IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

Cause No. DA 24-0732

KATIE IRENE GARDING,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF MONTANA,

Appellee.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana Fourth Judicial District Court, Missoula County,
Cause No. DC-32-2010-0160-IN
Honorable John W. Larson, presiding

E. Lars Phillips
CROWLEY FLECK PLLP
P.O. Box 10969
Bozeman, MT 59719
(406) 522-4509
lphillips@crowleyfleck.com

Toby Cook
Larry Mansch
SNYDER BEAUDRY & COOK, P.C.
P.O. Box 717
Big Fork, MT 59911
(406) 837-4383
toby@bigforklaw.com
larry@bigforklaw.com

Attorneys for Appellant

Austin Knudsen
MONTANA ATTORNEY GENERAL
Brad Fjeldheim
Roy Brown
ASSISTANT ATTORNEYS GENERAL
P.O. Box 201401

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the failure to rule on Garding's motion to substitute deprived the District Court of jurisdiction to enter the appealed-from Order.
2. Whether the District Court's decision to reinstate Garding's conviction was wrong as a matter of law.
3. Whether convicting Garding by motion, rather than by jury trial, violated her rights.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Garding appeals from an order of the Montana Fourth Judicial District Court reinstating her criminal conviction and judgment and requiring the Montana Department of Corrections to resume custody over her. (Doc. 195).

In 2011, Garding was convicted and sentenced to 40 years in prison in connection with a fatal hit and run near Missoula, Montana. Following exhaustion of state postconviction remedies, Garding sought federal habeas relief. In March 2023, a federal district court granted habeas relief after finding that Garding had received ineffective assistance of counsel. App. B. 421–474. The federal district court then offered the State a choice: retry Garding or release her. App. B. 473–474.

On April 19, 2023, the State chose to retry Garding. (Doc. 193). The next day, the District Court below vacated her criminal conviction and judgment and

released her from custody, and ordered that criminal proceedings were “renewed” and that the Amended Information first filed against Garding in May 2011 was “reinstated.” (Doc. 195 at 1–2).

Proceedings were then continued for 19 months. (*See* Docs. 202, 205, 207, 209–210). On June 28, 2024, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals reversed the federal district court’s grant of habeas relief. (Doc. 211 at Exhibit H). The Ninth Circuit issued its mandate on November 12, 2024. (Doc. 211 at Exhibit K).

On November 27, 2024, the State filed a Motion to Reinstate Conviction and Judgment. (Doc. 211). Garding objected and filed a response in opposition on December 6, 2024, (Doc. 214), followed by the State’s reply, (Doc. 215). On December 16, 2024, the District Court issued an order titled “Reinstatement of Conviction and Judgment,” (Doc. 216) (the “Order”). The Order “reinstated” Garding’s criminal judgment and conviction, required the Montana Department of Corrections to “resume its supervision” of Garding, and directed Garding to “report to the nearest Montana Department of Corrections office[.]” (Doc. 216 at 1–2). This appeal follows.¹

¹ Garding moved to stay the Order first in the District Court, which was denied on January 13, 2025, and then in this Court, which was denied on February 4, 2025.

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

This case arises from a fatal hit and run along Highway 200 in East Missoula, Montana, around 1:40 a.m. on January 1, 2008. Bronson Parsons and Daniel Barry were walking along the edge of the road when Daniel felt a “rush of wind” as a vehicle travelling “extremely fast” hit Parsons. App. B. 280, 287. Daniel did not think Parsons would survive because he was hit “so hard” and “too fast.” App. B. 283. At the scene, Daniel told Montana Highway Patrol Trooper Andrew Novak the striking vehicle was travelling about 60 miles per hour. App. B. 383-384. Trooper Novak would later determine Parsons came to rest between 90 and 150 feet from the area of impact. App. B. 401, 408.

Montana Highway Patrol Trooper Richard Hader began searching for the vehicle that hit Parsons. App. B. 303. Roughly twelve hours after the accident, Trooper Hader initiated a traffic stop on a 1994 Chevrolet S10 Blazer 4DR (the “Blazer”) with a custom steel bumper, driven by Garding. *See* App. B. 303–306, 317. Trooper Hader inspected the Blazer but found no evidence consistent with a hit and run. *See* App. B. 306–307. There was no observable impact damage to the hood, despite it being “thin” and “easily damaged,” no observable impact damage to the windshield, and no damage to the passenger side door, the passenger side window, the passenger side mirror, or the passenger side front roof support post.

App. B. 138, 153. Even the radio antenna located on the passenger side at the base of the windshield was undamaged. App. B. 138.

A few days later, Montana Highway Patrol Trooper Robert Strauch used Total Station, an electronic distance measuring instrument, to “map the [crash] scene.” App. B. 290–292. According to Total Station, Parsons travelled approximately 90 feet from the area of impact to where he came to rest. App. B. 295.

Law enforcement pursued other leads for nearly a year. Then, in December 2008, a jailhouse informant named Teuray Cornell contacted Trooper Hader. App. B. 314. Teuray was looking for a deal, and his story evolved until law enforcement found it useful. *See* App. B. 448–450. Teuray first told Trooper Hader that a man named James Bordeaux, who was dating Garding in January 2008, was driving the Blazer when they hit something on the night of the hit and run. App. B. 392. Then, after Teuray was placed in the same pod as James at the Missoula County Detention Center, he changed his story to say Garding was the driver. App. B. 404–405. Later, Teuray—whose testimony was the reason law enforcement shifted their focus to Garding in the first place—told Garding’s defense counsel that he “made the whole thing up from the very git-go.” App. B. 420.

Trooper Hader then contacted James, who was facing burglary charges. James first refused to talk but then later attempted to provide a statement.

Whatever James said was not useful, and Trooper Hader told him he needed “to say more[.]” App. B. 320–322.

James approached Trooper Hader with “more” information in May 2009. App. B. 322. James claimed that he, Garding, and McFarling had been driving in the Blazer around 1:40 a.m. near East Missoula when they hit something near where Highway 200 passes under the interstate, west of a bar named the Reno. App. B. 320–322, 360–363. Trooper Hader asked James about this sequence of events and the location of the crash six different times; James consistently denied travelling east of the Reno. App. B. 361–364, 368.

James’s original story was not useful to law enforcement because he told Trooper Hader that the crash occurred in the wrong spot; Parsons was hit east, not west, of the Reno. App. B. 368. After Trooper Hader told James where the crash occurred—three hundred yards east of the Reno—James changed his story to match that location. App. B. 368. Two days later, James received a probationary sentence on the burglary charge, a deal conditioned on him testifying against Garding. App. B. 370–372.

Only two witnesses—James and Tueray—placed Garding behind the wheel of the Blazer in East Missoula and claimed it struck Parsons. Paul McFarling—the other individual also with James and Garding that night—adamantly maintained that Garding never hit anyone when he and James were with her. App. B. 355–356.

Jennifer Streano was the public defender assigned to represent Garding. The case went to trial in June 2011. Because Garding maintained her innocence, the trial's central issue became the identity of the striking vehicle. To prove the Blazer was involved in the hit and run, the State relied on the testimony of Troopers Strauch, Novak, and Hader.

The State introduced Trooper Strauch as a witness with “technical crash investigation training” who had gone to “reconstruction school.” App. B. 290. He testified that Total Station could be used to “reconstruct a crash to determine speed [and] placement of objects” and that Total Station created “an accurate picture of what [crash] scene looked like at the time.” App. B. 290–291. Trooper Strauch testified that, while the area where Parsons was struck had been identified, the exact location remained unknown. *E.g.*, App. B. 296.

The State introduced Trooper Hader as a “technical crash investigator” who had completed a “crash reconstruction course” and had responded to 1,600 crashes over his career. App. B. 300. Trooper Hader testified about the mechanics of the hit and run. *E.g.*, App. B. 308–310. He explained that he was initially searching for a vehicle with heavy front-end damage caused by a “full-frontal impact,” but changed his focus to a “swerving” type collision based on the injuries the victim suffered and tire tracks in the snow. App. B. 302–303, 306–310. Because there was no observable damage on the Blazer, Trooper Hader told the jury that the

“swerving-type impact” would result in minimal damage to the striking vehicle, and that the Blazer’s custom bumper would further minimize any damage. App. B. 308–311.

Trooper Novak was introduced to the jury as having responded to the scene of the hit and run just after it happened. App. B. 376–378. He told the jury that, according to Daniel’s contemporaneous eye-witness account at the scene, the striking vehicle hit Parsons from behind at “about 60 miles an hour,” and that it was a “dark-colored sport utility vehicle,” a “pickup truck with a camper,” or “a Dodge Durango.” App. B. 378–380, 383–384. Trooper Novak stated that, when he first interviewed Daniel on the day of the crash, Daniel described the striking vehicle as quiet, rounded in shape, and stated that he felt a “rush of wind” and “heard more of a thump” when he saw Parsons “being carried away on the hood up by the windshield of the vehicle that hit him.” App. B. 387–389. Trooper Novak also described aspects of the Blazer, including its custom bumper. App. B. 393. At trial, the prosecution referred to the Blazer’s bumper as a unique identifier, like “DNA” tying the Blazer to Parsons. App. B. 419.

Streano did not call any witnesses capable of rebutting the Troopers’ testimony describing the mechanisms of the hit and run.

The State also called Dr. Gary Dale as an expert witness. While Dr. Dale admitted that any vehicle with a bumper 15 to 18 inches high would have caused

similar injuries to Parsons, he testified the “location and size of Garding’s bumper was consistent with the injuries sustained in Parsons’ calves.” App. B. 327, 330. The defense’s forensic pathologist, Dr. Thomas Bennett, confirmed this testimony but observed that Parsons’s injuries were more consistent with a rounded bumper. App. B. 416–417. However, Dr. Bennett was not offered as a crash scene expert and was not an accident reconstructionist, and he testified that crash biomechanics and occupant kinematics were not his field of expertise. App. B. 412–413. Without the assistance of an expert to reconstruction the accident, the defense was unable to point out that—as postconviction investigations would establish—the injuries suffered by Parsons were entirely inconsistent with the Blazer’s custom bumper.

Garding was convicted and sentenced to 40 years in prison. This Court affirmed her conviction, *State v. Garding*, 373 Mont. 16, 315 P.3d 912 (Mont. 2013), and review was denied on October 6, 2014. *Garding v. Montana*, 574 U.S. 863 (2014).

Garding sought postconviction relief in state court seeking a new trial based on ineffective assistance of counsel, *Brady* violations, and newly discovered evidence of innocence. In support, Garding produced multiple experts along with new evidence of innocence disproving the State’s trial theory—that the crash was a “swerving-type” collision where the striking vehicle sustained no damage but

resulted in the victim travelling 90 to 150 feet from the area of impact to where he came to rest—and establishing the Blazer was not involved in the crash.

Garding enlisted the services of KARCO Engineering, LLC, an automotive and safety testing facility, to conduct a physical accident reconstruction of the crash. App. B. 225–249. KARCO obtained a 1994 Chevrolet Blazer with a modified Bumper, just like the Blazer. App. B. 225–249. KARCO positioned a 198-pound dummy on a test track, outfitted the replica vehicle with weighted dummies consistent with the occupants in the Blazer that night, and reconstructed the crash at 35.31 miles per hour. App. B. 229. KARCO’s crash reconstruction results exonerated Garding and demonstrated that the striking vehicle would have sustained significant damage to both its hood and windshield—damage that was absent on Garding’s Blazer, App. B. 229, 244–249:



(Doc. 211 at 125).

Garding retained Dr. Harry Townes, a mechanical engineer and accident reconstruction expert. App. B. 9–23, 166–180. Based on the lack of damage present on the Blazer, Dr. Townes opined that “it is beyond a reasonable doubt” that the Blazer did not strike Parsons. App. B. 166. Dr. Townes explained that the crash theory proposed by Troopers Hader and Novak at trial was fundamentally flawed, pointing out that—even if the “swerving-type” crash had occurred—the vehicle still would have sustained damage not present on the Blazer. App. B. 169–174. Further, Dr. Townes opined that for Parsons to travel 90 feet, the minimum distance established by the Total Station report and the Troopers, the striking vehicle would have been traveling between 37 mph and 40 mph. App. B. 175. As the KARCO results demonstrated, the Blazer would have sustained significant damage at that speed. App. B. 243–247.

Garding also retained Keith Friedman, an accident reconstructionist with over 35 years of experience. App. B. 24–134, 181–224. Friedman reviewed the evidence and the theories presented by the State at trial, and conducted virtual testing via computer simulations to replicate the hit and run. App. B. 24–77, 193–208. Friedman opined that, within a reasonable degree of engineering certainty, the Blazer was not the striking vehicle. App. B. 25–27, 207–208. Further, Friedman concluded that the damage present on the Blazer was “in no way consistent with a pedestrian impact sufficient to kill a walking adult person.” App. B. 207.

Addressing the Trooper’s trial testimony, Friedman opined that the Troopers’ theories could not be correct and violated “both the laws of physics and impact mechanics.” App. B. 202, 207–208. Friedman concluded that Trooper Novak’s theory was physically impossible, and that the hit and run Trooper Novak described—where Parsons was hit from behind on both legs by the Blazer’s bumper without contacting the body of the vehicle and flew forward 90 feet—could not have happened. App. B. 202.

And Friedman explained that Trooper Hader’s crash theory—where Parsons was struck only in the left leg and yet was still projected forward approximately 90 feet—was also physically impossible. App. B. 202. He explained that—if the crash had occurred as Trooper Hader suggested—Parsons would not have been flung 90 feet from the point of impact. App. B. 202.

Friedman addressed the difference between the State’s theory and Daniel’s eyewitness account of the crash. App. B. 202–203. Daniel recalled that Parsons was carried along by the vehicle with his head and upper shoulders on the hood and windshield resulting in Parsons sliding off the side of the vehicle and landing on the ground. App. B. 202–203. Friedman pointed out that Daniel’s testimony was “consistent with the results of the crash test and virtual testing” that he and KARCO had conducted and would have resulted in significant damage to the striking vehicle, damage that was not present on the Blazer. App. B. 202–203.

Finally, Garding retained David Rochford, an accident reconstructionist with 40 years of experience, who conducted an extensive investigation into the evidence and trial testimony. App. B. 135–165. Rochford also opined that the Blazer could not have been involved in the crash and provided detailed descriptions of the lack of damage to the Blazer based on evidence collected by the Troopers during their investigation. App. B. 135–139, 145–146.

The State responded to Garding’s postconviction evidence by admitting that Garding was convicted based on an erroneous description of the crash. The State had prosecuted the case against Garding, and secured a guilty verdict, based on Troopers Hader and Novak describing the crash as a “swerving” type collision where Parsons was thrown 90 to 150 feet with eyewitness accounts describing a “rush of wind” as a car travelling “extremely fast” hit the victim “hard” and “fast.”² But when postconviction evidence confirmed these theories were physically and scientifically impossible, the State admitted the Troopers’ testimony was “incorrect.” *E.g.*, App. B. 323–324.

To evade the indisputable evidence that such a crash would have resulted in significant damage to the striking vehicle, the State concocted an entirely new crash theory. The State produced an unsigned, unsworn report created by Montana Highway Patrol Trooper Philip Smart stating—for the first time—that the crash

² App. B. 280, 283, 287, 308–310, 396–397, 401, 408.

was a low speed, less than 20 miles per hour, “wrap and carry” collision. App. B. 250-258.

Garding’s postconviction experts eviscerated Trooper Smart’s opinion and the State’s new theory. Rochford explained that Trooper Smart’s low speed wrap and carry hypothesis would have still resulted in damage to the striking vehicle that was not present on the Blazer.³ App. B. 147–149, 445. Likewise, Dr. Townes established that Trooper Smart’s hypothesis was internally contradictory because a less than twenty mile per hour collision could not have resulted in a “wrap and carry.” App. B. 17. And Friedman demonstrated that Trooper Smart’s hypothesis was based on a fundamental misunderstanding of the victim’s injuries. App. B. 28–31.

After exhausting state postconviction remedies, Garding timely filed a federal habeas petition under 28 U.S.C. § 2254.⁴ The federal district court granted habeas relief on Garding’s *Strickland* claim but denied her *Brady* claims. App. B. 473. The federal district court then issued a conditional writ, ordering as follows:

Within thirty (30) days of the date of this Order, the State may move to vacate the state criminal judgment and renew proceedings against Garding in the trial court. If the proceedings are renewed in state court, the State must promptly file notice in this action.

³ Rochford detailed numerous other inconsistencies between the Smart Report and the trial evidence. App. B. 147–149, 152.

⁴ On February 3, 2022, Garding was released from the Montana Women’s Prison on parole. Doc. 211 at Exhibit B.

If the State does not file notice on or before April 21, 2023, at 12:00 p.m., Respondents shall immediately and unconditionally release Garding from all custody based on the Judgment entered in *State v. Garding*, Cause No. DC-2010-160 (Mont. Fourth Jud. Dist. Court, Oct. 25, 2011), and Garding may not be retried.

App. B. 473–474.

On April 19, 2023, the Missoula County Attorneys’ Office filed a Motion to Renew Proceedings, initiating the instant criminal proceedings. (Doc. 193). The case was assigned to Judge Larson. On April 20, 2023, the Department filed a notice informing the federal district court that the State had complied with the conditional habeas writ and had chosen to retry Garding. App. B. 1–3.

Hours later that same day, Judge Larson issued an order setting Garding free. (Doc. 195). Judge Larson’s order had three components: first, he vacated the underlying criminal conviction and judgment at issue in Garding’s federal habeas proceeding; second, he re-instated the Amended Information filed against Garding on May 16, 2011, and renewed that criminal proceeding; and third, he released Garding from custody. (Doc. 195 at 1–2).

On April 24, 2023, Garding filed a Motion to Substitute Judge. (Doc. 197). The District Court never ruled on that motion to substitute, which remained pending at the time Garding’s appeal was filed.

On June 28, 2024, the Ninth Circuit reversed the federal district court’s grant of habeas relief.⁵ Then, on November 27, 2024, the State filed a Motion to Reinstate Conviction and Judgment, asking the District Court to “reinstate Garding’s conviction and judgment and order her to be placed back under the parole supervision of the Department of Corrections to serve the remainder of her sentence.” (Doc. 211 at 8). Garding objected on numerous grounds. (Doc. 214).

On December 16, 2024, the District Court entered an order titled “Reinstatement of Conviction and Judgment.” (Doc. 216). The Order was bereft of any analysis save a single sentence: “This Court finds the Mandate from the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit controlling[.]” (Doc. 216 at 1). The District Court then ordered Garding’s criminal conviction and judgment “reinstated,” ordered the Montana Department of Corrections to “resume its supervision of the Defendant,” and ordered Garding to “report to the nearest Montana Department of Corrections office[.]” (Doc. 216 at 1–2).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A district court’s decision on a motion to substitute a judge is a question of law that this Court reviews for correctness. *City of Missoula v. Mountain Water*

⁵ Garding’s petition to the United States Supreme Court for review of the Ninth Circuit’s decision is pending.

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