IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 24-0732

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

KATIE IRENE GARDING,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Fourth Judicial District Court,
Missoula County, The Honorable John W. Larson, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
ROY BROWN
BRAD FJELDHEIM
Assistant Attorneys General
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
roy.brown2@mt.gov

E. LARS PHILLIPS
CROWLEY FLECK PLLP
P.O. Box 10969
Bozeman, MT 59719-0969

TOBY COOK
LARRY MANSCH
SNYDER BEAUDRY & COOK, P.C.
P.O. Box 717
Big Fork, MT 59911-0717

MATTHEW C. JENNINGS

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

The Court has issued an Order Setting Scheduling Conference in this matter. Thus, it appears that the Court may not intend to hold an arraignment in this matter. As such, and in an abundance of caution, Ms. Garding files this Motion in order to preserve her

statutory rights under § 3-1-804(1)(b), MCA. In the event the Court sets an arraignment hearing at the Scheduling Conference, Ms. Garding will renew this motion within ten (10) days after that hearing.

(Doc. 197.) After the State responded, in her reply brief, Garding argued for the first time that substitution could be appropriate under a different theory, and that it applies “within 20 calendar days after the district court has ordered a new trial.”

(Doc. 199 at 3) (citing Mont. Code Ann. § 3-1-804(11).) Garding nonetheless repeated her prior acknowledgement that “she filed her motion” in an “abundance of caution[.]” and offered that she was “willing to renew her motion once an arraignment or new trial is set.” (*Id.*)

Thereafter, the parties repeatedly stipulated to delaying any retrial proceedings pending the outcome of the Ninth Circuit appeal, and the district court did not rule on the substitution motion. (Docs. 202-03, 205-06, 207-08.)

Nothing else happened until the State filed a motion to reinstate Garding’s 2011 conviction on November 27, 2024, following the Ninth Circuit’s mandate issuance ending the federal appeal on November 12, 2024. (Doc. 211 (motion); Doc. 211, Ex. K (mandate).) Then—while the district court allowed further briefing on the reinstatement motion—it cancelled and vacated any further hearings. (Doc. 212.) The district court later reinstated the conviction and resumed Garding’s supervision. (Doc. 216.)

B. Standard of review and applicable law

The right to substitute a district judge “neither is, nor derives from, a fundamental federal or state constitutional right.” *Lesage v. Twentieth Judicial Dist. Court*, 2021 MT 72, ¶ 10, 403 Mont. 476, 483 P.3d 490. It is instead “a procedural rule of court, discretionarily afforded by this Court” and “available only in accordance with its express prerequisites and conditions.” *Id.*

This Court reviews for correctness a district court’s ruling on a motion to substitute a district court judge. *Patrick v. State*, 2011 MT 169, ¶ 12, 361 Mont. 204, 257 P.3d 365.

C. Discussion

Garding claims that she “timely” filed the motion and she had the right to substitution under the trial arraignment triggering provision in Mont. Code Ann. § 3-1-804(1)(b). (Appellant’s Br. at 19.) On the other hand, Garding admits she “has not been [re]arraigned” and the “triggering” provision for the “10-day deadline for Garding to file a motion to substitute still has not occurred.” (*Id.* at 20, 21.) Garding also argues she possessed the right to substitution under the new trial provision for substitution. (*Id.* at 21.)

1. The issue is moot

Whether an issue is moot is a threshold question this Court addresses before considering the merits of a dispute. *Grabow v. Montana High Sch. Ass’n*,

2000 MT 159, ¶ 14, 300 Mont. 227, 3 P.3d 650. An issue is moot when due to the happening of an event; it no longer presents an actual controversy. *Havre Daily News, LLC, v. City of Havre*, 2006 MT 215, ¶ 31, 333 Mont. 331, 142 P.3d 864. In other words, “[a] question is moot when the court cannot grant effective relief.” *Sebastian v. Mahoney*, 2001 MT 88, ¶ 7, 305 Mont. 158, 25 P.3d 163 (citing *Shamrock Motors, Inc. v. Ford Motor Co.*, 1999 MT 21, ¶ 19, 293 Mont. 188, 974 P.2d 1150). This Court may not exercise its original jurisdiction to address a hypothetical controversy or answer moot questions. *Shamrock Motors, Inc.*, ¶ 19.

Garding’s claim on appeal is moot because this Court can no longer grant her relief on her prior request to substitute the judge for an arraignment and retrial. The text and intent of substitution statutes contemplate substitution for a trial. *See, e.g.*, Mont. Code Ann. § 3-1-804(1)(b) (in a “criminal action,” the “arraignment” is the triggering point); *see also Patrick*, ¶ 22 (explaining the 1903 passage of the “Fair Trial Bill” allowing judicial substitution to address extortion and judicial corruption). While Garding argued below that she could have the substitution right based on future possible arraignment for a criminal retrial proceeding, she no longer has the right to a retrial. Indeed, the reversal of the habeas relief grant is dispositive because “a decision in the State’s favor would release it from the burden of the new trial itself[.]” *Calderon v. Moore*, 518 U.S. 149, 150 (1996);

accord Garding, 105 F.4th at 1255 (citing *Moore* for the same effect of cancelling retrial via habeas reversal).

Here, while Garding had the right to proceed with retrial beginning on April 20, 2023, she instead repeatedly stipulated to delaying retrial until the conclusion of the Ninth Circuit appeal. Then, at the point of the Ninth Circuit’s reversal and mandate, effective on November 12, 2024, retrial was no longer an option. *See Moore*, 518 U.S. at 150. Again, this is because the effect of that reversal “und[id] what the *habeas corpus* court did and ma[de] lawful a resumption of the custody.” *Eagles*, 329 U.S. at 308. And while Garding’s filing alerted the district court she *might* file a substitution motion in the future if substitution were to then be triggered, Garding never thereafter renewed her motion. This was likely because there is no specified right triggering substitution where—due to intervening circumstances—a trial will no longer occur. Garding is thus no longer entitled to substitute a judge for retrial which is now unwarranted, and to the extent she ever was, that time is now a legal fiction. Indeed, on appeal, Garding concedes that a triggering event still has not yet occurred, but Garding somehow argues that this fact entitles her to substitution now. But Garding only reinforces the State’s point. She no longer has the right to a retrial and the issue is moot.

2. The district court was not required to rule upon Garding's substitution motion.

Alternatively, Garding was not entitled to substitution based on her filing itself. First, Garding's filing cannot reasonably be characterized as a "motion" but rather appears to be more of a "notice." A motion is "[a]written or oral application requesting a court to make a specified ruling or order." *Depositors Ins. Co. v. Sandidge*, 2022 MT 33, ¶ 10, 407 Mont. 385, 504 P.3d 477 (citing *Motion*, *Black's Law Dictionary* (11th ed. 2019)). Garding did not request any specified relief in her filing. Rather, the basis of Garding's filing was to merely give the district court advance notice that she intended to "renew" the motion when it was the proper time for filing it, based on a future arraignment triggering event, even though Garding ultimately repeatedly stipulated to not proceeding with a new trial. (See State's Ex. 1; see also State's fn. 1 for detailed account of Garding's repeated stipulations.) Under the circumstances, Garding's "motion" had no effect and the district court was not required to rule on it.

But even if this Court generously construed Garding's filing as a "motion" for relief, the district court was still not required to act on it, particularly because, as Garding admitted, the triggering event she identified as the basis for the motion had not occurred. (Ex. 1.) Montana Code Annotated § 3-1-804(1)(b) provides "[i]n a criminal action, a motion for substitution by the . . . defendant must be filed *within* 10 calendars days *after* the defendant's arraignment." (Emphasis added.)

According to the plain language of the statute, the triggering event for the filing of the motion is after the arraignment. The substitution statutes do not provide for the filing of a sort of provisional motion to preserve any speculative future right to substitution. Garding did not pursue retrial, thus an arraignment and a retrial never occurred. Garding’s “motion” thus had no force or effect—and she never carried through with her promise to renew the motion if any future triggering event occurred. This Court should reject Garding’s claim on appeal.

III. Garding cannot show that her constitutional rights were violated via the reinstatement of her 2011 judgment and the resumption of her sentence.

A. Standard of review

This Court’s review of constitutional issues in plenary. *State v. Hislop*, 2016 MT 130, ¶ 7, 383 Mont. 482, 373 P.3d 834.

B. Discussion

Garding next presents numerous insufficiently briefed shotgun claims. (*See* Appellant’s Br. at 29-46.) The overall premise of the undeveloped claims is the district court opted to “convict[] her on motion, without meeting any evidentiary burden and without a jury verdict.” (Appellant’s Br. at 30.) But, dispositively for each claim, the district court never reconvicted her or imposed any new sentence in 2024. Rather, after Garding’s habeas relief was reversed, it effectuated and continued her valid 2011 sentence as it was legal for the court to do so.

1. Garding’s various trial rights were not violated.

Garding claims that her trial rights, including the “presumption of innocence,” the “right to require the government to prove every element of a charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt,” and the “right to a fair trial before an impartial jury,” were violated. (Appellant’s Br. at 30.) Garding also argues she has the right to an initial appearance, an arraignment, an omnibus hearing, and a jury trial. (*Id.* at 43-46.) But Garding ignores that the government proved its case and the jury convicted her in 2011. She also repeatedly stipulated not to proceed with retrial proceedings throughout 2023 and 2024—and actually expressly decided to wait for the Ninth Circuit’s decision—even though the intervening time was her only opportunity for retrial. Finally, once the Ninth Circuit reversed the only basis for which Garding was ever granted habeas relief, Garding no longer had the right to retrial. This claim is meritless.

2. The district court did not illegally sentence Garding.

Garding next argues that it was the State’s “unilateral decision to reinstate a conviction” and the district court improperly made a “decision to sentence Garding to parole conditions” which allegedly violated her Eighth Amendment rights. (Appellant’s Br. at 32.) Garding later argues her sentence is illegal because “a district court lacks authority to impose conditions on parole.” (*Id.* at 46.) Garding

argues the district court opted to “convict” her on a “motion” without trial procedures. (*Id.* at 30.)

This argument fails. Garding was only temporarily relieved of her sentence based on the federal district court’s erroneous order that was duly reversed. Contrary to Garding’s claims, the district court has not engaged in an “arbitrary imposition of punishment”—Garding’s punishment was imposed by the district court in 2011 after a valid jury conviction, and it was merely resumed when the Ninth Circuit reversed the federal district court’s erroneous decision. The Missoula District Court did not decide upon a new sentence in 2024, it simply resumed Garding’s 2011 valid sentence. For the same reasons, the district court did not “reconvict” Garding via a motion.

Garding also incorrectly argues the court “sentenced” her to “parole conditions”—her parole conditions were imposed by the Parole Board in December 2021 prior to Garding being released on parole and prior to her habeas relief being granted. (BOPP Final Board Dispositions (Dec. 2021) available at [Final Dispositions 12-2021](#).) The effect of the reinstatement and resumption of Garding’s 2011 valid judgment merely resumed Garding’s status to what it was prior to being given habeas relief. Thus, DOC’s supervision of Garding in the community under the parole conditions—the same status as before Garding was given habeas relief—was validly resumed.

3. Garding’s right to due process was not violated, nor may Garding relitigate this Court’s 2020 PCR decision.

Garding has not been denied her due process rights. Throughout 2011 to 2024, Garding exhausted her claims and exercised her constitutional rights, including her direct appeal, her postconviction proceedings, and her federal habeas proceedings. Garding has been capably represented by the Montana Innocence Project or private counsel throughout the PCR and federal habeas proceedings. The State has not frustrated Garding’s pursuit of relief, even though Garding now no longer has any remedies available to raise and pursue new claims.

Instead, Garding here attempts to exercise *more* process than she is due. Having already exhausted her PCR claims in 2020—which have been duly rejected by this Court—Garding attempts to relitigate and retread the same ground. (*See* Appellant’s Br. at 3-13 (attempting to rehash her crash reconstruction evidence); *Id.* at 31, 33-35 (arguing about the credibility of her PCR experts as compared to the troopers’ trial testimony). Particularly, Garding inappropriately attempts to relitigate this Court’s decision rejecting Garding’s crash reconstruction evidence in support of her “newly discovered evidence” (NDE) claim, the same claim she would later actually abandon in federal habeas proceedings. *Compare Garding II*, ¶¶ 38-43 (rejecting NDE claim based on Garding’s crash reconstruction evidence) to Appellant’s Br. at 40-41 (attempting to again bolster the credibility of her crash

reconstructionist experts and present the same analysis and conclusions that she presented before this Court in her 2020 PCR appeal).

Res judicata and the law of the case both bar Garding's attempt to relitigate her PCR claims. *State v. Wagner*, 2013 MT 47, ¶ 18, 369 Mont. 139, 296 P.3d 1143 (“Under the law of the case doctrine, a prior Montana Supreme Court decision resolving an issue between the same parties is binding and may not be relitigated); *Kullick v. Skyline Homeowners Ass’n*, 2003 MT 137, ¶ 17, 316 Mont. 146, 69 P.3d 225 (Res judicata precludes parties from relitigating claims they have already had an opportunity to litigate.). And to the extent that Garding is attempting to raise any *new* substantive claims collaterally challenging her conviction that she never raised in her 2015-2020 PCR state court proceedings, those claims are barred too. *See* Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-105(1)(a) (All grounds for relief claimed by petitioner under § 46-21-101 must be raised in the original or amended original petition); *compare to* Appellant's Br. at 33-35 (Garding's apparent attempt to raise a new *Napue v. Illinois*, 360 U.S. 264 (1959), claim in this proceeding relating to the same facts that were before this Court in the original 2020 PCR proceeding.).

4. Garding's speedy trial claim fails.

Garding's speedy trial claim fails for many reasons. First, apart from her substitution motion, Garding never filed any motions below, much less did she file a motion to dismiss for lack of speedy trial. Because she never filed any speedy

trial motion, the district court necessarily never engaged in a balancing analysis or issued a ruling. Accordingly, any speedy trial claim is unpreserved and not properly before this Court. Second, Garding even acknowledges that she has failed to “provide a full *Ariegwe* analysis here.” (Appellant’s Br. at 42 n.14.) But even if this Court somehow reached the merits, it is not a good faith claim. Merely addressing one of four factors, the length of delay, Garding disingenuously calculates the delay as continuing without cessation since her original Information was filed in 2011 until now. (*Id.* at 42 (arguing 4,963 days of delay); *but see Betterman v. Montana*, 578 U.S. 437, 439 (2016) (the Speedy Trial guarantee “protects the accused from arrest or indictment through trial[.]”) But even further entertaining Garding’s claim for the sake of argument, Garding’s repeated stipulation to not pursue retrial during the Ninth Circuit appeal highlights her responses to the delay, and that she had no real interest in pursuing a retrial.

5. Garding’s statute of limitations claim fails.

Garding’s next variation on the same theme argues that the State cannot now press an Amended Information charging her with her original offenses because the statute of limitations has passed. But Garding never raised this defense below, thus it is waived. And Garding’s speculation on whether the State could have reprosecuted and reconvicted her is irrelevant. The State is no longer proceeding with a retrial because it was cancelled via the Ninth Circuit’s reversal of Garding’s

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